$FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}$

OCT 28 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

RANDALL SCOTT KNOWLES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 79,644

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR NASSAU COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Randy Knowles is the appellant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of 14 volumes and references to either the record or the transcripts will be by the usual "T" followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Nassau County on July 24, 1990 charged Randy Knowles with two counts of first degree murder (T 1907) to which he pled not guilty. Several pretrial motions, notices, or orders relevant to this appeal were later filed:

- 1. Motion to prohibit argument and/or instructions concerning first degree felony murder (T 1954). Denied (T 120).
- Motion for additional peremptory challenges (T 2037). Denied (T 524, 583).
- Notice of waiver of mitigating circumstance 921.141(6)(a) (T 120).
- 4. Five orders appointing different mental health experts to examine Knowles (T 2113, 2118, 2124, 2153, 2154).
- 5. Notice of intent to rely on insanity defense (T 2148).
- 6. Motion in limine to prohibit certain testimony from Walter Johnson (T 2214). Denied (T 129).
- 7. Motion for special penalty phase instructions (T 2341-64). Denied (T 1722).

Knowles proceeded to trial before Judge William Parsons and was found guilty as charged on both counts (T 2335-2336). The jury also recommended a death sentence for both murders, and the court followed those recommendations and sentenced the defendant to death for each murder (T 2387). In aggravation, the court found:

- 1. As to count I:
 - a. Knowles had a prior conviction for murder (The count II murder.)

- b. He committed the murder to avoid lawful arrest.
- c. He committed the murder during the course of a robbery.

2. As to count II:

Knowles had a prior conviction for murder. (The count I murder.) (T2414-2417)

The court found no statutory mitigation, but it

"considered the testimony presented indicating that the

defendant, . . ., had a limited education, had on occasion been

voluntarily intoxicated on drugs and alcohol, had two failed

marriages, has a low average intelligence, has a poor memory,

had inconsistent work habits, and loved his father." (T 2413)

Knowles filed a Motion for New Trial, which the court denied (2380, 2392). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

By 5:30 in the afternoon of July 13, 1991 Randy Knowles was drunk (T 1056). That was not particularly unusual for this 38 year old man, but this day, he appeared worse than he had ever been, and the mother of a drinking buddy of his said that at 5 p.m. he would not respond to her when she told him he had to leave her home; instead he stared into space, oblivious to what she had said (T 1071-72). As she testified at trial, "He did not say anything to me. He was acting like he was completely gone. He just sat there and stared at me." (T 1072)

About 11 a.m., Knowles and Earl Wingate bought a case of beer and returned home to drink it and play cards with Knowles' 77 year old father with whom he lived (T 1032). Later he accompanied Wingate to a store where he bought a .22 caliber rifle and watched as he shot some beer bottles (T 1034, 1036). During this time, and throughout the day, Knowles drank beer and "huffed" toulene, a lacquer thinner type liquid (T 1034). Knowles would buy it by the gallon, pour some on a rag and then inhale the fumes (T 931). The effect was euphoric with the high lasting for about 10 minutes (T 933). Knowles was addicted to the stuff and had been since he was 15 or 16 (T 930), and his highs could last for hours during which time he would have visual and auditory hallucinations and would black out and not remember what happened (T 937, 1025, 1242, 1457-58). Time, as the defendant said, would go by quick

(T 932). Although he could go through about a gallon each week, on the 13th he only had a quart can, which he shared with his friend (T 1033).

As mentioned, by 5 p.m. he was in terrible shape and after he had wandered home he got a .22 caliber semiautomatic rifle and went to the trailer next door. Inside, ten year old Carrie Woods and her friend were preparing for her friend's birthday party (T 657). As they danced to the music on a video, Knowles appeared on the front porch and opened the storm window door (T 661). He looked "like he was mad" and pointed the gun at Woods' friend (T 661). As he stood there, he pulled his head back then shot Carrie Woods three times in her arm (T 663, 666, 814). The bullets went through her arm and one of them entered her body, puncturing a lung and her aorta (T 814). She died a short time later.

Knowles left the trailer and walked backed to where he lived. His father, who apparently was unaware of what had just happened, got into the front seat of his pickup truck. Knowles talked with him and sometime during their conversation said "No you won't." (T 702) Randy then shot his father twice, with one bullet entering his head and the second, a glancing non-fatal wound, entering the neck (T 830, 834).

Knowles pulled his father's body from the truck, got in, and drove away looking scared (T 721). About five hours later, he stopped at a convenience store and got some gas and a twelve pack of beer (T 844-45). He did not have any money, but he gave the attendant his driver's license, told him he would pay

for the gas and beer later, and said "Rehabilitation made me do what I did tonight." (T 846)

Knowles headed south and sometime during the night he sold the rifle (T 945). He also picked up a girl and they talked and had sex until the morning (T 944-45). He dropped her off near where she lived, and he continued south eventually ending up at a friend's house near Mulberry (a small community about 40 miles east of Tampa) about 10 a.m. (T 867). "He looked rough. He was shaky. He was haggard" (T 867-68). The friend, Glenn Roberson, asked "Damn boy, what's wrong with you. . . Did you kill someone?" (T 867) Knowles admitted that he had, that he had "kicked in a trailer door and "shot a bunch of mother fuckers." (T 867) He had even shot one of them in his truck and he thought one of them "might have been daddy" (T 868).

Knowles did not know if police were looking for him, and he asked Roberson to find out. Knowles eventually called the Nassau County Sheriff's office, but when they stalled, he hung up (T 876-77). Knowles went to sleep and Roberson called the local police who came to his house and arrested the defendant (T 893).

By July 1991, Knowles was 38 years old (T 925). He had only a borderline intelligence and had dropped out of school in the 7th grade, having probably earned mostly Ds. (T 926) The longest he had ever held a job was four or five years, and most of the time he had been employed as a construction helper of one sort or the other (T 928).

When he was 14 or 15, he began drinking "moonshine" and within a year he started "huffing" lacquer thinner (T 928-30). He would often start drinking at 5 or 6 in the morning and continue all day (T 929). He soon changed to "toulene" because it gave him a better high (T 930). During the next several years, he also became an alcoholic, and by 1991, he would combine his drinking and huffing. He would use a gallon of toulene a week, having purchased it for about eight dollars at a local hardware store. Likewise, he would drink beer by the case (T 929).

The highs from huffing typically lasted a short while, usually about 10 minutes, but as mentioned, Knowles by July 1991, used this inhalant so much and so often that he would be high all day, during which he would hallucinate and have memory blackouts (T 931-32, 967). The last thing he remembered on 13 July was sitting down with a friend to huff some toulene in the morning (T 944). He next remembered the girl waking him (T 944).

This abuse had a cost, and one of the reasons Knowles used toulene was the price he paid when the high was over. He would get headaches, and "if you been on it a long time, sick. You get sick off it. Belly, head, and everything. You get where you have to have it. . . You get back on it to kill the

pain." (T 933) By July, Knowles was taking "Goody Powders," a headache remedy, by the boxful to numb the pain (T 934). He was also vomiting blood (T 938), his arms would go to sleep "all the time," he had a "fine motor tremor indicating an atrophying of the muscles (T 939, 1091). Not surprising, each of the five mental health experts who examined Knowles after his arrest found him to be brain damaged (T 1108, 1244, 1329, 1452, 1500), and the neuropsychologist that examined him said there was "significant evidence of disruption in brain function, higher brain function, of an organic type," which was chronic (T 1108, 1110).

¹Several empty gallon cans of toulene were found in the woods behind the trailer Knowles lived in (T 1209). A hundred empty Goody Powder wrappers were found near the trailer (T 1210).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Knowles presents four guilt phases issues and nine penalty phase questions for this court to resolve. The first issue involves the court's refusal to excuse for cause two prospective jurors. The first, a Mrs. Smith, did not believe she could fairly determine Knowles' guilt or innocence because she taught small children and had recently become a mother. She also did not accept the insanity defense as being valid, believing instead that lawyers had claimed their clients were insane when they really were not. Mr. Griffis, another prospective juror, also said he could not be fair because he had two daughters, although he said he could probably put aside his feelings.

Such responses from Mrs. Smith and Mr. Griffis raised a reasonable doubt about their ability to be impartial in this case. Doubts about Mrs. Smith's and Mr. Griffis' fairness arise from their understandable sympathy for the girl who had been killed and her family. Smith's objectivity was further weakened by her unambiguous inability to accept an insanity defense as legitimate. Griffis' conditional ability to be fair similarly meant he should have been excused for cause.

During the presentation of the state's case, Wayne Johnson testified that Knowles had told him weeks before the killing that Knowles in essence said that at some unspecified time in the future he was going to kill his father. Another witness, Earl Fagan told the jury that two months before the homicides, the defendant had told him that he might "lose it" someday and

start shooting people. As part of his case, Knowles took the stand and denied making those statements. On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked him if he thought the state's witnesses were lying, and if so, why. The court, over defense objection, permitted the questions and answers, but such was error because such inquiry invaded the province of the jury. The question also assumed either Knowles or the state witnesses were lying. In light of the defendant's acknowledged memory problems, everyone could have been telling the truth. There was, in short, no evidence Knowles knew either witness was lying.

More fundamentally, the court should not have allowed Fagan's or Johnson's testimony about what Knowles told them he planned to do at some unspecified time in the future. He made one comment months before and the other about six weeks before the shootings. What he said was too remote in time to have much probative value of Knowles' intent when he shot Carrie Woods and his father and their prejudicial value outweighed any relevance they had.

The state presented an insufficient amount of evidence Knowles had the requisite amount of premeditation to be guilty of first degree murder. This becomes evident from analyzing various factors this court has identified as valuable in determining whether a defendant had the requisite intent when he committed a homicide. Examining the facts in light of those factors shows that Knowles committed only second degree murders.

In supporting a death sentence for the defendant's murder of his father, the court found that Knowles had committed the murder to avoid lawful arrest. The only fact it found to support that finding was that he had stolen his father's truck immediately after killing Carrie Woods. That evidence, however, does not show that the defendant's dominant motive for killing his father was to avoid lawful arrest. Why he took the truck is, at best ambivalent, and it does not in any event establish beyond a reasonable doubt that he killed his father primarily to flee.

The court also justified a death sentence for the defendant's murder of his father because he killed him during the course of a robbery. The robbery was the taking of the truck. There is an insufficient amount of evidence to show Knowles stole his father's truck. That is, the uncontroverted evidence showed that the defendant had frequently used the vehicle, so when he killed his father, he did not do so during the course of taking something he had no right to use. There was, in short, no robbery because Knowles did not take the property of another.

Accordingly, if there was no robbery, the court erred in instructing the jury that it could find the defendant guilty of his father under a felony murder theory.

The court found as an aggravating factor in the murder of Carrie Woods that Randy Knowles had a "prior" conviction for the first degree murder of his father, Alfred Knowles. It also found as an aggravating factor in the murder of Alfred Knowles

that the defendant had a "prior" conviction for the first degree murder of Carrie Woods. Applying the aggravating factor, that "the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony" Section 921.141(5)(b) Fla. Stat. (1990) to both murders was error because the murder arose out of the same episode and did not involve "separate victims" as this court has used that phrase in discussing issues surrounding this aggravating factor.

As part of its closing argument during the penalty phase of Knowles' trial, the state, over defense objection, told that jury 1) that even though the defense could argue anything in mitigation, the state did not have a similar freedom to present anything in aggravation. 2) That Knowles' use of alcohol and toulene caused his mother to become mentally ill, and 3) the defendant repeatedly showed a lack of remorse for the murders he committed. These arguments must have had a powerful affect on the jury's recommendation, yet the court should not have allowed it. They were improper because there was no evidence linking, in any manner, the defendant's drug and alcohol abuse to his mother's mental collapse. This court has also held that remorse is not a valid consideration in justifying any aggravating factor. It has also disapproved of comments made in closing argument that the defendant had not shown any remorse.

Under a proportionality review, Knowles' death sentences cannot stand. He attacked all of the aggravation, and it was, in any event not particularly compelling. Moreover, the

defendant's virtual lifelong addiction to alcohol and paint thinner as well as his not surprising low intellect strongly mitigate a death sentence.

At no point during this trial did the state or the court ever tell the jury that their recommendation would receive great weight by the sentencing court. Failure to tell them that, as the defendant requested, was error because it left them to speculate about the value of their recommendation, and the jury could very well have recommended death, not so much with the conviction that Knowles deserved to die, but as a signal of protest of what the defendant had done and their understandable total revulsion at the murders. Because the court never adequately stressed to the jury the importance of their decision, their recommendation lacks the heightened assurances of reliability that it responsibly discharged it duty.

Knowles presented an abundance of evidence, which the trial court virtually ignored, that his ability to control his conduct was significantly impaired as defined in section 921.141(6)(b). This included the unrefuted evidence of his chronic alcoholism and toulene addiction, his low intelligence, and his brain damage. He also presented evidence that only minutes before the shootings he was so drunk that he was oblivious to his surroundings.

The court also failed to "expressly evaluate" the evidence Knolwes presented as nonstatutory mitigation, and all it did was to merely list it. Failing to do so indicates that it did

not engage in the required character analysis of the defendant, and that failure unconstitutionally skewed the results in favor of a death sentence.

Finally, the court instructed the jury that death was the appropriate sentence if the mitigation did not outweigh the aggravation. That was wrong because the nine jurors who recommended death could have done so because the mitigation and aggravation had equal weight. That is not the law in Florida because the aggravation must outweigh the mitigation, the implication being that if they do not life is the appropriate sentence. What the court told the jury was the opposite: if the mitigation did not outweigh the aggravation, death should be recommended.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING KNOWLES' CAUSE CHALLENGE OF TWO PROSPECTIVE JURORS, AND IT COMPOUNDED THAT ERROR BY REFUSING TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT MORE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AS HE REQUESTED, IN VIOLATION OF HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.

During voir dire, counsel for Knowles asked the prospective jurors about the insanity defense and their views regarding the death penalty. In particular, prospective jurors Smith and Griffis responded as follows:

MR. COFER [defense counsel]: Okay. Do you feel as though because you teach smaller children or you have a small child that it would be difficult for you to sit on the jury where your are dealing with the death of a child?

MS. SMITH: Yes, I think it would be.

MR. COFER: . . . Do you feel as though you would put aside any feelings of sympathy and the like when viewing the photographs and be a fair and impartial juror, or would you have difficulty doing that?

MS. SMITH: I don't think that... I think I would be... I am a new mother. I have to teach school. I don't think that I should ... I do... I would have strong opinions of it. I think it would be... I don't think it would be fair.

MR. COFER: Okay. I will get into that same question with others. Mr. Griffis, I think you indicated earlier out there that you knew Carrie Woods' family?

MR. GRIFFIS: I knew her father.

MR. COFER: Have you had contact with him since the death of his daughter?

MR. GRIFFIS: No. I don't know him well.

He bought some property from my parents.

MR. COFER: Do you feel as though, because of your relationship with him or his acquaintanceship, that you would have difficulty in judging the guilt or innocence or the potential guilt of a man charged with killing his daughter.

MR. GRIFFIS: Not for that reason.

MR. COFER: You have daughters?

MR. GRIFFIS: Because I have two daughters.

MR. COFER: It would be difficult for you to be fair and impartial?

MR. GRIFFIS: I believe it would, yes, sir.

(T 260-61).

Defense counsel, with a surprising bluntness, asked the jury about an insanity defense with the following response from Ms. Smith:

MR. COFER: Some people in our society have a knee-jerk reaction to [an insanity defense]. If you are one of those people right now, now is the time to be straight with me on it. Mrs. Smith.

MS. SMITH: I would have to agree with what she said. I feel like that's a big defense, and a lot of times it is not... I don't feel that is is truthful. It is... I have read in many cases that is has not been the case, but that was what the defense has built their case on. And that's not right.

(T 279-80).

Later, regarding the pre-trial publicity in the case, counsel asked:

MR. COFER: Do you feel as though you have formulated any preconceived notions about the case before coming down here?

MR. GRIFFIS: Having two daughters, I would

be lying if I said I didn't.

* * *

MR. COFER: Do you feel that you could put aside your feelings about the fact that there is a child victim in this case and decide a verdict?

MR. GRIFFIS: I am fairly open minded. I probably could.

MR. COFER: Probably could?

MR. GRIFFIS: Yes, sir.

 $(T 365-66)^2$

Counsel sought to excuse Ms. Smith and Mr. Griffis for cause (T 379-81). The court denied both cause challenges, saying with regard to Ms. Smith that "what she was doing is stating what everyone else feels." (T 380) As to Mr. Griffis, the court said, "I don't find that his concerns on his position rise to the level of a challenge for cause." (T 381)

Counsel later exhausted his peremptory challenges and requested more, citing the need for such arising in part because he had had to use two of his ten to excuse Ms. Smith and Mr. Griffis (T 523). The court denied that request, and after additional jurors were questioned, counsel renewed his request for more peremptory challenges, but the court refused it (T 583). The court erred in denying the additional challenges, and it should have excused Ms. Smith and Mr.

²If the truck was the father's and he had let his son use it, there was no evidence he had withdrawn his permission for him to drive it.

Griffis for cause, although the reasons are different for the prospective jurors.

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