ELERK, SURREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By-

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDALL SCOTT KNOWLES,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,644

STATE OF FLORIDA,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR NASSAU COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE





#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Regardless, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting two of Appellant's challenges for cause.

Issue II - The State's questions to Appellant fairly established the illogical nature of Appellant's testimony. Regardless, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue III - The trial court properly decided that the time between Appellant's statements and the murders (six weeks and a couple of months) did not render them inadmissible as evidence of Appellant's state of mind and as admissions.

Issue IV - Since the trial court should rarely, if ever, grant a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the presence or absence of proof of premeditation, and where, as here, the State presented competent substantial evidence from which the jury could have inferred guilt, i.e., premeditation, to the exclusion of all other inferences, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motions for judgment of acquittal.

Issue V - There is sufficient competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that Appellant killed his father to avoid or prevent his lawful arrest.

Issue VI - There is sufficient competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding that Appellant killed his father during the commission of a robbery.

Issue VII - Since the State presented sufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding of the "felony murder"

- 19 -

aggravating factor, the trial court was justified in instructing the jury on this aggravating factor.

Issue VIII - This Court has previously held that the contemporaneous conviction for a capital offense may qualify as an aggravating factor where the two crimes involved multiple victims or separate episodes. Here, Appellant killed two people.

IX - The first complained-of comment by the State during its closing argument was a legitimate inference that could have been drawn from several witnesses' testimony. The second complainedof comments were not properly preserved for review, since no contemporaneous objection was made. Regardless, the State was not arguing lack of remorse as a nonstatutory aggravating factor; rather, the State was attempting to show that Appellant's actions immediately following the murders tended to prove that Appellant's state of mind was more rational and coherent than he claimed. Even if they were error, they were not so egregious to warrant reversal.

Issue X - Appellant's sentences of death for this double murder were proportionally warranted.

Issue XI - This Court has previously held that the standard instructions correctly state the law regarding the weight the trial court must give to the jury's recommendation. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Appellant's special requested instructions.

Issue XII - There is competence evidence in the record to support the trial court's rejection of Appellant's evidence of mental mitigation as it related to his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his actions and to conform his conduct to the

- 20 -

requirements of the law. Regardless, the trial court considered Appellant's mitigating evidence under the catchall provision.

Issue XIII - This Court has previously held that the standard instructions correctly state the law regarding the process of weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Appellant's special requested instructions.

#### ARGUMENT

# ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REJECTING TWO OF APPELLANT'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE AND IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORIES (Restated).

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion for additional peremptory challenges. (R 2037-40). At the hearing on the motion, the trial court deferred its ruling. (T 111-12). During voir dire of the first panel, Appellant sought to excuse jurors Smith and Griffis, and the trial court denied the requests. (T Just before the parties began to exercise peremptory 379-82). challenges on the first panel, the trial court told the parties that, at that point, they only had ten peremptories each, but that it would consider granting more later if necessary. (T 384). Appellant excused jurors Smith and Griffis, along with three others, peremptorily. (T 385). Immediately thereafter, trial court stated regarding Appellant's request for the additional peremptory challenges:

> I told you that I would reserve ruling until I have had an opportunity to see the progress we made and the type of people and the reasons. In fairness to you, and I don't believe you have used but a few of your challenges...

> > [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I don't think you need additional challenges. I am going to deny that motion.

I am going to tell you that I feel that I have been quite generous in cause challenges, reaching anything that even marginally could be caused [sic]. And in view of my approach to that, I will deny your request for additional challenges. And I tell you that now so that you don't get caught down the road without an answer.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: All right.

(T 494).

After Appellant had exercised nine of his ten peremptory challenges, he once again requested an unspecified number of additional challenges. The trial court noted:

> For the record thirty-three jurors have been put in the jury box. I have granted eleven challenges for cause, all but I think two of them being defense challenges for cause.

> In effect... and I have also excused some nine peremptory challenges, so eighteen of the thirty-three potential jurors have been excused by the defendant, or the defense.

> I am going to deny your request for additional challenges.

(T 523-24). Thereafter, Appellant used his final peremptory challenge, and ten more people were called to the jury box to fill the final slot and two alternate slots. (T 524). When the twelfth juror was selected, Appellant once again requested an unspecified number of additional peremptory challenges. At that point, the following colloquy occurred:

> THE COURT: Do you want to put anything on the record as to why you feel that is necessary? You don't have to unless you want to.

> [DEFENSE COUNSEL]: First of all, we had to utilize three peremptory challenges because of cause challenges that were denied. That is the primary reason.

> > - 23 -

THE COURT: Anything else on that subject?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No, sir.

THE COURT: Sir, I will deny your request for additional challenges. I don't see the need for them.

(T 583).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing Appellant's challenges for cause on jurors Smith and Griffis, thereby forcing him to use peremptory challenges to remove the potential jurors from the jury. Brief of Appellant at 15-19. The State submits, however, that Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for review.

In <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1990) (footnotes omitted; emphasis added), this Court enunciated the precise procedural requirements for preserving this kind of issue for review on appeal:

> Under Florida law, '[t]o show reversible defendant must show that all error, а peremptories had been exhausted and that an juror had to be accepted. objectionable Pentecost v. State, 545 So.2d 861, 863 n. 1 (Fla. 1989). By this we mean the following. Where a defendant seeks reversal based on a claim that he was wrongfully forced to exhaust his peremptory challenges, he initially must identify a specific juror whom he otherwise would have struck peremptorily. This juror must be an individual who actually sat on the jury and whom the defendant either challenged challenge or attempted to cause for peremptorily or otherwise objected to after his peremptory challenges had been exhausted. The defendant cannot stand by silently while an objectionable juror is seated and then, if the verdict is adverse, obtain a new trial. In the present case, after exhausting his

peremptory challenges, Trotter failed to object to any venireperson who ultimately was seated. He thus failed to establish this claim.

As in Trotter, Appellant failed to identify a specific juror or jurors whom he would have struck peremptorily had he been given the opportunity. He claims, however, that he was excused from doing so when the trial court asked him if he had anything he wanted to put into the record regarding his need for more challenges, but that he did not have to if he did not want to. Appellant further claims that "[h]e let the court know that he needed more peremptory challenges to exercise on the remaining cluster of possible jurors. He had, therefore, satisfied this court's 'sandbagging' concerns expressed in Trotter." Brief of Appellant at 21. The State disagrees. First, by moving pretrial for additional peremptories, Appellant arguably planned to create this issue for appeal, which is why the requirements established Second, appellate in Trotter should be strictly applied. counsel's claim that, "[a]s to the final group of ten, five were beyond his ability to excuse, and because it was a small, readily identifiable group, it is reasonable to believe that counsel did not want at least one of them on the jury," Brief of Appellant at 21, is pure speculation. Finally, this Court specifically found in Trotter that "Trotter's request for an additional peremptory connection with а particular made in challenge was not venireperson; it was a general request for a challenge that could be exercised in the future." 576 So.2d at 693 n.7.

Appellant made absolutely no indication that an objectionable juror had been selected. Even now, Appellant makes no claim that a biased juror was seated. A perusal of the record would defy such a claim. Without a showing of need, the trial court had no reason to grant Appellant's request for <u>an</u> <u>unspecified number</u> of additional peremptory challenges. Thus, by failing to satisfy his burden, Appellant's claim should not be heard.

Were this Court to find, however, that Appellant made a sufficient showing, his argument nevertheless lacks merit. This Court has repeatedly stated that "[t]he test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render his verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given to him by the court." <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 469 U.S. 873 (1984). It is solely within the trial court's discretion to determine whether the juror meets this test. <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So.2d 685, 688 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 116 L.Ed.2d 254 (1991).

Here, the trial court had a superior vantage point and was able to see and hear not only the challenged jurors' demeanor and responses, but it was also able to assess the entire venire and the interaction among its members. From this vantage point, it determined that jurors Smith and Griffis met the <u>Lusk</u> test. This Court should defer to its conclusions. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO ASK APPELLANT CERTAIN QUESTIONS ON CROSS-EXAMINATION (Restated).

During Appellant's direct examination, he testified that he did not remember shooting either of the victims. In fact, he testified that he did not remember very much at all about that day. (T 940-48). On cross-examination, the State tried to show that Appellant's memory loss was very selective. At one point, the State asked Appellant if he remembered Wayne Johnson testifying the day before regarding statements Appellant made to him a few weeks before the murders. Appellant at first claimed that he did not remember his testimony, then changed his mind. Thereafter, the following colloquy occurred:

> Q [BY THE STATE] And you remember him saying that you told him you were going to kill your father?

> A [BY APPELLANT] I heard what he said, yes, sir.

Q And you don't remember saying that?

A No.

Q Or you believe he is lying?

A I think he is lying.

Q You believe he is lying?

A Yes.

Q Why do you believe he's lying, Mr. Knowles?

A Because I --

(T 952). Appellant objected that the questions were argumentative and "highly improper." (T 952-53). Appellant's objection was overruled. (T 953). Thereafter, Appellant responded that he did not know why Mr. Johnson was lying. The State then asked the same questions and elicited the same responses, over Appellant's objection, regarding Earl Fagin's prior testimony. (T 954-55).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the State to elicit this testimony. Brief of Appellant at 25-29. The State submits, however, that questions fairly established the illogical nature of the Appellant's testimony--Appellant could not remember whether he made the statements to Mr. Johnson or Mr. Fagin, but he nevertheless believed that they were lying. The State is not unmindful of the cases cited to by Appellant which hold that such am impeachment technique is improper, but the State maintains that under the circumstances here the questions were proper.

Even if they were not, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to find Appellant guilty includes the following: Evelyn Agricola's testimony that she saw Appellant walking away from the trailer after he shot Carrie Woods; June Skipper's testimony that Appellant opened the door to her trailer, pointed the gun at her, then turned it on Carrie Woods, threw his head back, fired, and walked away without ever saying a word; Linda Brazell's testimony that Appellant followed his father to his truck, pointed the gun
at his father, fired, pulled his father out of the truck and onto the ground, threw the gun in the back of the truck, and drove away; Robert Mullis' testimony that Appellant was standing outside of his father's truck arguing with his father, Appellant said, "No, you won't," shot his father in the head, pulled him out, and drove off; Parker Quick's testimony that Appellant filled up with gasoline at the Jiffy Mart shortly after the murders, got a 12-pack of Budweiser, threw his driver's license on the counter, said he would be back to pay for the gas and beer, and then said, "Rehabilitation made me do what I did tonight"; and, finally, Glen Roberson's testimony that Appellant showed up at his house the next morning and told him that he shot some people in the trailer park and shot his father in his truck. Based on this evidence, there is no reasonable possibility that the State's cross-examination of Appellant, if error, contributed to the jury's verdict. DiGuilio. Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's convictions.

## ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF TWO WITNESSES REGARDING STATEMENTS APPELLANT HAD MADE TO THEM BEFORE THE MURDERS (Restated).

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion in limine, seeking to exclude the testimony of Wayne Johnson as it related to statements Appellant had made to him six weeks before the murders, on the grounds that the statements were "vaque, ambiguous, and remote from the time of the [murders]." (R 2214-15). Based upon his deposition, Mr. Johnson was prepared to testify that, on June 1, 1990, while he was at the Knowles' residence, Appellant's father, who looked upset, came out of the trailer, got in his truck, and drove off without speaking to Mr. Johnson, which was very uncommon. Shortly thereafter, Appellant came outside and said to Mr. Johnson, "'[T]hat son of a bitch don't know it, but I'm going to blow his shit away one day. Well I'm going to surprise him one of these days.'" (R 2214). At the hearing on the motion, the State argued that Appellant's statement clearly referenced his father and that it was admissible, pursuant to § 90.803(3)(a)2 of the Florida Evidence Code, as evidence of Appellant's then-existing state of mind to prove or explain acts of subsequent conduct. (T 124-25). The trial court denied the motion. (T 129). During Mr. Johnson's testimony in the State's case-in-chief, Appellant renewed his motion regarding the testimony, which was denied. (T 762-63). Thereafter, Mr. Johnson related to the jury the substance of Appellant's statement to him. (T 763-65).

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